

# MINUTES OF CABINET MEETING HELD 15 DECEMBER 2014

## PRESENT

**Cabinet Members:** Councillor Cereste (Chairman), Councillor Holdich, Councillor Elsey, Councillor Fitzgerald, Councillor Hiller, Councillor North, Councillor Seaton and Councillor Serluca.

Cabinet Advisers: Councillor Casey.

## 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillor Scott and Councillor Lamb.

## 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

## 3. MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 24 NOVEMBER 2014

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2014 were agreed as a true and accurate record.

## STRATEGIC DECISIONS

# 4. INSTALLATION OF SOLAR PANELS ON ROOF TOPS

Cabinet received a report which sought its approval to enter into a strategic partnership with Empower Community Management LLP (EC), a social enterprise that would, as its primary purpose, deliver the installation of solar PVs on residential properties in the city and deliver a community benefit scheme to Peterborough.

The scheme would be the first of its type in the UK and in particular, the first of its kind involving a council.

Councillor Cereste introduced the item and commended officers for bringing forward such an innovative scheme. He further highlighted key points including there being no cost to the home owner for installation; an overview of the criteria for the scheme; the savings which could be realised by the home owner and the bonus payment received after five years; the first pilot scheme which would be rolled out to 1500 homes and if successful, would be rolled out further; the money that both the community and the Council would receive for every 1500 houses, this being in the region of £1m; and the provision of short term up front construction finance that was being provided by the Council and the profits that would be made from that for the city.

Cabinet debated the report and key points raised, along with responses to questions provided by Councillor Cereste, included:

- Councillor North commended the scheme and highlighted the positive community aspects that the scheme would bring, particularly in terms of those individuals who were in fuel poverty in the city and also in terms of environmental issues;
- The scheme had been endorsed by local MPs and the scheme highlighted Peterborough's innovativeness;
- The first wave was very city centric and it was requested that emphasis be placed on rural communities for the second wave;
- Information on how the scheme could be applied for should be detailed on the Council's website and the process for application made as simple as possible;
- The financial benefit to the 1500 people, who would benefit from the first phase, would equate to around £6m over the period of the scheme. Going forward, the scheme could be worth in the region of £50-£60m city wide and for residents; and
- The various energy saving schemes that the Council was rolling out, could save each individual person that took part in the region of £640 to £700 per annum. Officers had been requested to put forward a simple list of all of the schemes available for publication on the Council's website.

Cabinet considered the report and **RESOLVED** to approve:

- 1. That the Council enters into a strategic partnership agreement with Empower Community Management LLP to enable a first project to deliver solar PV on private residential properties in Peterborough;
- 2. That the Council enters into a shareholder agreement to become an equal partner in a Community Interest Company with Empower Community Management LLP;
- 3. That the initial target area be the Green Deal Community Fund area set out in section 4.6 of the report;
- 4. An intention to roll out the solar PV project from the initial target area to the remainder of the city;
- 5. That, subject to:
  - a) Council approving the amendment to the treasury management strategy as set out within the report; and
  - b) Finalisation of the issues set out at 9.1.7 within the report to the satisfaction of the Executive Director, Resources;

the Council enters into a finance agreement with the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV).

- That Council enters into such further agreements with the Community Interest Company, the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) and any other body necessary to facilitate the terms of the strategic partnership agreement and solar PV project set out in this report;
- 7. That Cabinet delegates to the Executive Director, Resources and Director of Governance the ability to finalise any individual matters.

Cabinet also made the following recommendation to Council:

8. Approval of an amendment to the existing treasury management strategy to enable a Special Partnership Vehicle (SPV) between Empower Community Management LLP and Empower Community Foundation to be added to the list of external bodies that the Council is able to undertake capital investment in.

# REASONS FOR THE DECISION

To enable a strategic partnership to be entered into with Empower Community to enable the delivery of area wide Solar PV for private residential owners.

## ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

To do nothing, the Council would lose the significant opportunities devised by the scheme.

To procure a solution on the open market, the Council would need to establish procurement and social enterprise vehicles at significant cost. These are the benefits of partnering with EC.

## 5. TRANSFORMING DAY OPPORTUNITIES FOR ADULTS UNDER 65

Cabinet received a report which followed a review of current day opportunities for people with learning and physical disabilities provided by the Council, which had been commissioned to understand if the Council was meeting people's needs or if services could be offered differently and improved upon.

In the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), signed off by Council in March 2013, it had been agreed that greater emphasis should be placed on supporting adults to maintain their independence for as long as possible, including, where possible, enabling them to stay living in their own homes and for them to play a bigger part in the community in which they lived.

Cabinet had received reports on this subject in December 2013 and then again in March 2014 where it was agreed that future options should be considered in consultation with stakeholders, with a recommendation being brought back to Cabinet for future consideration and implementation. The agreed model of service and the delivery vehicle would subsequently be subject to consultation with stakeholders.

In March 2014, Cabinet had concluded that the current day service model was not compatible with personalisation and did not support individuals to maximise opportunities for independence. Cabinet had therefore requested a proposal which took a number of factors into consideration.

Ms Assunta Genovese, a service user of 49 Lincoln Road addressed Cabinet and provided an overview of the support offered to her and the activities that were available to her. Ms Genovese further advised that she had been part of the day opportunities design group and had looked at how day opportunities were provided in Thurrock. She advised that although Thurrock did well, Peterborough provided a better service.

Councillor Fitzgerald introduced the item and provided an overview of the background to the issue and an overview of the model. Further key points included the continuation of all services, but with some being provided in a slightly different manner; individual care packages being provided for those people with the most need; the challenge to make individuals strive for personal development and to give people more opportunities to be able do so; the investments that would be made in the service and the improvements that investment would make; the move to Kingfisher at the Bretton Centre for those individuals with complex and profound needs; the continuation of Fletton Day Centre for the foreseeable future and the developments that could be made going forward.

Councillor Seaton thanked Ms Genovese for addressing Cabinet and for providing an overview of the service which she utilised, this being 49 Lincoln Road. Councillor Seaton further highlighted all of the services available at 49 Lincoln Road including bills

advice, key workers, employment etc. and queried whether all of these services would still be available following implementation of a new model. The Director for Communities responded and advised that all services would still be available with further expansion, particularly in relation to employment through the micro enterprises.

Cabinet considered the report and **RESOLVED** to agree:

- 1. To an open tender for the delivery of day opportunities for under 65s which were currently provided by the council;
- 2. To provide a service for people with complex needs at Kingfisher Day Centre and have a micro enterprise situated within it;
- 3. Provision of community based satellite centres to provide independent living skills, employment and social opportunities;
- 4. For the 2015/16 budget to be amended to reflect the savings arising from the redesigned services; and
- 5. A further period of consultation on the new proposed model of delivery.

# **REASONS FOR THE DECISION**

The new model would better support people to reach their full potential in life. It would look to support people to develop skills which would help them to gain employment, and/or skills which would support them to live independently. It would also support those people with complex needs with a more targeted approach to ensure that their needs were met.

People with less complex needs would be supported through a combination of employment related services, community satellite centres and where possible, with personal assistants.

Employment services would continue to offer employment related activities ranging from supported employment, voluntary work to paid employment. This would be offered to every person eligible to receive a service.

The ultimate aim of this investment would be to allow people to secure paid employment wherever possible.

# ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Other delivery vehicles and options were considered in providing an alternative to the current in house service, (excluding the option to do nothing) which was owned and staffed wholly by the Council. All options had undergone a SWOT analysis and scoring methodology, which considered price and quality of service.

Once the scoring and analysis had been completed, a risk analysis for the top three options was completed. The options were then ranked by their total weighted score. All options were ranked against the Council's need to deliver a long-term, value for money service, which could best meet the needs of people and deliver the necessary outcomes of the recommended delivery model.

The continuation of in-house services was not considered a viable option for a number of reasons. It could not achieve the level of savings desired and would be unable to take advantage of external grant funding opportunities afforded to the independent sector.

# 6. PHASE ONE BUDGET PROPOSALS

Cabinet received a report as part of the Council's agreed two stage budget process, as outlined in the report considered by Cabinet on 24 November 2014.

The purpose of the report was to enable Cabinet to consider the feedback from consultation undertaken to date with Scrutiny, residents, partner organisations, businesses and other interested parties and to recommend to Council approval of phase one budget proposals.

An addendum document had been circulated prior to the meeting of Cabinet which contained revised recommendations.

Councillor Seaton introduced the item and provided an overview of the background to the issue. Further key points included the wide reaching ongoing budget conversation; the challenges faced due to the £44m cut in grant; the work which had been undertaken alongside officers and the cross party budget working group; the release of the budget proposals in two phases; full analysis of the feedback being included within the addendum to the Cabinet report; the feedback and consultation sessions which highlighted the understanding that the public had in relation to the issues faced by the Council; the consultation responses being taken into account but also being balanced with achieving the required level of savings; the cessation of Your Peterborough magazine leading to a decrease in communication opportunities with residents; the issues raised being consistent throughout; the deferral of proposals for shrub replacement and grass cutting to Phase 2 of the budget proposals to allow further discussion; the proposal to charge for blue badge parking and the bigger issue being the availability of accessible spaces rather than charging itself and the work that would be undertaken alongside the disability forum to address this issue; comments which had been received with regards to proposals for bowls clubs and the further work that would be undertaken to identify alternative ways to provide the service; comments which had been received with regards to Council Tax Support, this not being part of the proposals for Council in December; the comments which had been received relating to suggested savings and the work that was already being undertaken in relation to some of the suggestions; the second set of proposals which would have to close the remaining £8m savings gap and the feedback process which would be repeated for this second phase.

Councillor Seaton summarised by stating that the Council was committed to providing a bright future for the city and its residents and it was believed that the phase one proposals struck the right balance between tackling the financial challenges faced and maintaining focus on education, jobs creation and economic prosperity and quality of life for residents.

Cabinet debated the report and key points raised, along with responses to questions provided by the Executive Director of Resources included:

- It was still unclear as to when the grant settlement would be;
- There had been a number of concerns raised around the bowling greens. Could consideration therefore be given to postponing any decision on the bowling greens to the second phase?
- The feedback received from the bowling clubs had been positive so far and the health and wellbeing benefits were recognised. Meetings were continuing and alternatives were being explored. The proposal for bowling clubs was therefore proposed for postponement to the second phase;
- The gap in the finances were not due any form of mismanagement by the Council and each year a balanced budget had been delivered along with significant efficiency savings. Significant challenges had been met and this was down to a strong Finance Team and a focussed Cabinet;

- The Corporate Management Team worked together throughout the year to address any in year pressures within the resources available and the resource allocation. Finances had also been put into areas where it was needed, for example into children's services, due to local issues; and
- The financial resilience of the Council was good and the Council was tackling challenges head on.

Cabinet considered the report and **RESOLVED**:

- 1. To have regard to the consultation feedback received to date and statutory advice detailed in the report, when determining the phase one budget proposals, noting that consultation remained open and an addendum would be provided prior to the Cabinet meeting and to the Council meeting;
- 2. To recommend that Council:
  - i. Defer some phase one budget proposals to phase two of the budget process to enable Cabinet further time to conclude the specific issues raised on certain budget proposals. The proposals to be deferred being:

| Issue                              | 2015/16<br>£k | 2016/17 | 2017/18 | 2018/19 | 2019/20 |
|------------------------------------|---------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|
| Parks, trees<br>and open<br>spaces | -168          | -168    | -168    | -168    | -168    |

Comprising of the partial deferral of the parks, trees and open spaces, this being:

- Cutting of parkway verges will be reduced by around 20 per cent, however visibility for traffic will be maintained at all times. This proposal makes a saving of £10,000.
- Grass cutting will be reduced from ten cuts a year to eight. This proposal makes a saving on £38,500.
- Shrubs which are ageing or have reached the end of their life will be removed. This proposal makes a saving of £83,000.
- Four of the city's seven bowling greens will be closed. Currently there are bowling greens at Bushfield in Orton, Central Park (2), East Community Centre, Itter Park, Ringwood in Bretton, Stanground and Werrington. In addition, six grass tennis courts at Central Park and five at Itter Park will be closed. Clay tennis courts at both parks will remain open. This proposal makes a saving of £36,000.

ii. Approve the phase one budget proposals, as summarised in appendix 1 to the Cabinet report, subject to the deferral of the proposals as outlined in recommendation (2i), to enable implementation of these budget proposals to commence; and

3. To note the timetable for the phase two consultation and formal approval of the 2015/16 to 2024/25 Medium Term Financial Strategy as detailed at section 6. Furthermore, budget proposals approved by Council on the 17 December will form part of the medium term financial strategy but will not form part of the second stage of consultation or Council debate on 4 March 2015.

# **REASONS FOR THE DECISION**

Under statutory requirements the Council must set a lawful and balanced budget. The approach outlined within the report worked towards fulfilling this requirement.

# ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Cabinet considered releasing all budget proposals in the New Year after the provisional finance settlement announcement, as Cabinet had done so over previous financial years. The cross party Budget Working Group expressed a desire to release budget proposals earlier than in previous years. Cabinet considered the cross party Budget Working Group's view and recognised that as work was continuing to identify and propose further budget proposals, and given the unprecedented scale of the savings to find, Cabinet agreed to publish their budget proposals in two stages. This would enable the remaining phase one budget proposals to be approved by Council on 17 December to allow the implementation process to commence depending on whether the proposals were required to be implemented under Director delegation, Cabinet Member Decision Notice or a further report to Cabinet.

## MONITORING ITEMS

# 7. CHILDREN'S SERVICES DIRECTOR'S UPDATE

Cabinet received a quarterly Director's update report which provided an overview of Children's Services Improvement.

Cabinet considered the report and **RESOLVED**:

To note the contents of the report and the key points as of October 2014, these being:

- Continued increase in early intervention assessments (CAFs);
- Conversion rate from contact to referral 20% lower than same time two years ago;
- Majority of referrals had a single assessment completed and in timescale;
- Re-referral rate staying low;
- Continuing high number of Child Protection enquiries;
- High number of children subject to a Child Protection Plan; and
- Continued increase in Looked After Children (383).

## **REASONS FOR THE DECISION**

The reason for the report was to provide Cabinet with an overview of Children's Services improvement.

# ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

There were no alternative options considered.

Chairman 9.00am - 9.37am